
 
 

t[!bbLbD /haaL{{Lhb 
TUESDAY, APRIL 13, 2021 

Electronic Meeting - 6:30 P.M. 
201 West Ash Street, Mason MI 

 
 

!D9b5! 
 

мΦ /![[ ¢h hw59w 
нΦ wh[[ /![[ 
оΦ t¦.[L/ /haa9b¢ 

пΦ !ttwh±![ hC aLb¦¢9{  

A. Approve Minutes of Regular Planning Commission Meeting March 9, 2021 

B. Approve Minutes of the Joint CC/PC Meeting March 15, 2021 

рΦ t¦.[L/ I9!wLbD 

A. Ordinance No. 234 a request from George Hayhoe, Capex Land, Inc., to amend the zoning map by 

rezoning 1041 S. Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-011) and 1123 S. Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-

10-09-351-015) from M-1: Light Manufacturing District to C-2: General Commercial District.   

сΦ ¦bCLbL{I95 .¦{Lb9{{ 

A. Master Plan RFP – Discuss selection of PC representative to participate in interview/selection 

process as presented at Joint CC/PC meeting March 15, 2021. 

тΦ b9² .¦{Lb9{{ 

уΦ [L!L{hb w9thw¢ 

A.   Council Liaison Report 

B.   City Manager’s Report – click here, bottom of page 

фΦ !5Wh¦wb 

PC Packet Page 1

https://www.mason.mi.us/city_departments/city_administration_.php#outer-245sub-784


201 West Ash Street; Mason, MI  48854-0370 
Office:  517.676.9155; Website: www.mason.mi.us 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
ELECTRONIC MEETING INFORMATION 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the meeting of the City of Mason Planning Commission scheduled for April 13, 2021, 
starting at 6:30 p.m., will be conducted virtually (online and/or by phone) due to health concerns surrounding 
Coronavirus/COVID-19. 

The City of Mason will be using Zoom to host this meeting.  A free account is required to use Zoom.  Please 
take the time to download and set-up Zoom prior to the meeting.  Zoom may be accessed here: 
https://zoom.us/

MEETING INFORMATION: 

Topic: Planning Commission Meeting 
Time: April 13, 2021 at 6:30 p.m. Eastern Time 

Join Zoom Meeting  
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89233216952?pwd=eWlQY1Q3Q2pwaG5LMG5BK0Z0U3Zadz09 

Meeting ID: 892 3321 6952 
Passcode: 518216  

 You may also join a meeting without the link by going to join.zoom.us on any browser and

entering the Meeting ID identified above.

 Phone Information:

Dial (312) 626 6799 (Enter meeting ID when prompted.)

To comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), any citizen requesting accommodation to attend this 
meeting, and/or to obtain this notice in alternate formats, please contact Michigan Relay at 
https://hamiltonrelay.com/michigan/index.html.  

Resources: More Questions? Please Contact our Customer Service Desk at 517.676.9155. 

Note on Public Comments: 

If you would like to provide comments beforehand, please send those comments in an email by 3:00 pm on the 

day of the meeting to stephanies@mason.mi.us. They will be read aloud by Chair.   

If you would like to speak during the meeting, you can send your name and address to stephanies@mason.mi.us 

by 3:00 pm on the day of the meeting. You can still speak at the meeting if you do not notify us in advance.  

PC Packet Page 2

https://zoom.us/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89233216952?pwd=eWlQY1Q3Q2pwaG5LMG5BK0Z0U3Zadz09
https://join.zoom.us/
https://hamiltonrelay.com/michigan/index.html
mailto:stephanies@mason.mi.us


General Procedures  
Related to Electronic Meetings 

As required under Public Act 228 of 2020, the following procedures outline the accommodation of meetings held, 
in whole or in part, electronically by City Council or a City Board or City Commission.  Additional procedures will 
be adopted at a later date, by the Council, to accommodate members that are eligible and cannot attend in person 
for meetings held on or after January 1, 2021.   

Electronic Meeting Procedures for City Council, City Board or City Commission Members 
• All attendees including City Council, City Board or City Commission Members will enter the meeting with a

muted microphone.
• The meeting Chair’s microphone will be unmuted to call the meeting to order.
• During initial roll call, each member will announce the physical location they are participating from by stating

the county, city, township, or village and state which they are attending the meeting from.
• The meeting Chair will call for a motion and members will signify making a motion by either voice or the “Raise 

Hand” feature.  The same process will be followed for a second to a motion.  The meeting Chair will then
acknowledge which member made the motion and which member seconded the motion.

• The meeting Chair will then ask if there is any discussion on the motion.  Members will indicate a desire to
discuss by either voice or the “Raise Hand” feature.  The meeting Chair will then acknowledge the particular
member granted the floor for discussion by name.

• Votes shall be taken by roll call.

Electronic Meeting Procedures for Public 
• All public participants entering the meeting will automatically be muted upon entering.
• All public participants should either turn off or leave off their video camera.  Only City Council, City Board or

City Commission Members will be allowed to have their video cameras on. Your video camera will be turned
off for you if you do not turn it off yourself.

• Public rules are displayed in the “Chat” Feature; however, the chat feature will not be turned on to allow for
chat comments to be added.

• Public comment:
o Public only will be allowed to address the members during Public Comments
o Public is allowed three (3) minutes to speak.
o Public must state the name and address slowly and clearly before they start to address the Council.
o Public comments will be addressed in the following order:

1. Those provided the day of the meeting and sent to the designated person in the meeting instructions
by a certain time will be read during the meeting.

2. Those using the Video Conference Portion (not calling on a telephone) will be asked to use the “Raise
Your Hand” Feature in Zoom.  The meeting Chair will call on individuals to speak and they will be
unmuted at that time.

3. Participants that are available only by phone, after the meeting Chair requests.
• Inappropriate or disruptive participants will not be allowed or tolerated and will be removed from the

meeting.
• Due to the electronic nature of this type of meeting the meeting Chair, at his discretion, may adjourn the

meeting with or without notice for any reason.  Every attempt will be made to remain connected to the
meeting, however two examples of abrupt adjournment may be computer connectivity issues or lack of
appropriate participation.

PC Packet Page 3

http://www.mason.mi.us/


ADDITIONAL ZOOM INSTRUCTIONS FOR PARTICIPANTS: 

PHONE INSTRUCTIONS - to join the conference by phone 
1. On your phone, dial the teleconferencing number provided above.
2. Enter the Meeting ID number (provide with agenda) when prompted using your touch- tone

(DTMF) keypad.

VIDEOCONFERENCE INSTRUCTIONS – to watch and speak, but not to be seen 
Before a videoconference: 
1. You will need a computer, tablet, or smartphone with speaker or headphones. You will have the opportunity

to check your audio immediately upon joining a meeting.
2. Details, phone numbers, and links to videoconference or conference call is provided above. The details include

a link to “Join via computer” as well as phone numbers for a conference call option. It will also include the 9-
digit Meeting ID.

To join the videoconference: 
1. At the start time of your meeting, enter the link to join via computer. You may be instructed to download the

Zoom application.
2. You have an opportunity to test your audio at this point by clicking on “Test Computer Audio.” Once you are

satisfied that your audio works, click on “Join audio by computer.”

If you are having trouble hearing the meeting, you can join via telephone while remaining on the video conference: 
1. On your phone, dial the teleconferencing number provided above.
2. Enter the Meeting ID number when prompted using your touch- tone (DTMF) keypad.
3. If you have already joined the meeting via computer, you will have the option to enter your 2- digit

participant ID to be associated with your computer.

Participant controls in the lower left corner of the Zoom screen: 

Using the icons in the lower left corner of the Zoom screen, you can: 
• Mute/Unmute your microphone (far left)
• Turn on/off camera (“Start/Stop Video”)
• Invite other participants
• View Participant list – opens a pop-out screen that includes a “Raise Hand” icon that you may use to

raise a virtual hand during Call to the Public
• Change your screen name that is seen in the participant list and video window

Somewhere (usually upper right corner on your computer screen) on your Zoom screen you will also see a 
choice to toggle between “speaker” and “gallery” view.  “Speaker view” shows the active speaker.  “Gallery 
view” tiles all of the meeting participants. 

PC Packet Page 4

http://www.mason.mi.us/


Planning Commission Minutes           March 9, 2021 
Page 1 of 3 

CITY OF MASON 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

MINUTES OF MARCH 9, 2021 
DRAFT 

Sabbadin called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. at Mason MI, via Zoom Teleconference. 

Roll Call Present Absent Location 

Commissioner Barna X Mason, Michigan 

Council Liaison Clark X Mason, Michigan 

Vice-Chair Howe X 

Commissioner Husby X Mason, Michigan 

Commissioner Perrault X Mason, Michigan 

Chair Sabbadin X Mason, Michigan 

Commissioner Shattuck X 

Commissioner Waxman X Mason, Michigan 

Secretary Wren X Mason, Michigan 

Also present:     Elizabeth A. Hude, AICP, Community Development Director, Mason, Michigan; Marcia 
Holmes, Permit Specialist, Community Development; Stephanie Strickland Administrative Assistant, 
Community Development; Deb Stuart, City Manager; Thomas De La Fuente, PC Youth Advisor; Amber 
Nixon, 914 S Eugenia Drive, SUP 

Howe joined the meeting at 6:38 pm. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

None. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
MOTION by Waxman second by Husby, to approve the Regular Planning Commission meeting 
minutes from the meeting on January 12, 2021. 

Yes (8) Barna, Clark, Howe, Husby, Perrault, Sabbadin, Waxman, Wren 
No (0)  
Absent (1) Shattuck  

MOTION PASSED BY ROLL CALL VOTE 

Public Hearing 

Resolution 2021-01: Approval of the Capital Improvements Plan for the Fiscal Years 2021-2027 

Council Liaison Clark requested to abstain on the issue as he will be voting on this issue at the Council 
level and does not want to influence opinions of the Planning Commission. 

MOTION by Waxman, second by Barna to approve to allow Council Liaison Clark to abstain from voting 
on CIP. 

PC Packet Page 5



Planning Commission Minutes           March 9, 2021 
Page 2 of 3 

Yes (7) Barna, Howe, Husby, Perrault, Sabbadin, Waxman, Wren 

No (0)  

Abstain (1) Clark 

Absent (1) Shattuck 

MOTION PASSED BY ROLL CALL VOTE 

Sabbadin stated that the Planning Commission was not voting to approve the CIP; the voting is to 
approve recommending it to the City Council for adoption.  

Barna questioned if there had been any changes to anything that the commission had seen previously at 
the joint workshop with City Council.  City Manager Stuart stated that additional information was added 
regarding the Columbia Street bridge pedestrian improvements and a placeholder was added in the 
following fiscal year for estimated costs of the improvements. 

MOTION by Waxman, second by Wren to approve the Capital Improvements Plan for the Fiscal years 
2021-2027 

Yes (8) Barna, Clark, Howe, Husby, Perrault, Sabbadin, Waxman, Wren 

No (0) 

Absent (1) Shattuck 

MOTION PASSED BY ROLL CALL VOTE 

Resolution 2021-02: Amber Nixon has requested a Special Use Permit to increase capacity of a family 
day care from its currently licensed maximum of six children to allow up to a maximum of twelve 
children at 914 S Eugenia Drive, parcel 33-19-10-08-326-004, City of Mason, and Ingham County. 

Ms. Nixon addressed the Commission stating that she appreciated being permitted to attend and hopes 
to be able to provide good quality care especially during the pandemic. 

Howe asked if there were any police, traffic or noise complaints; Hude responded that comments were 
included in the staff report and that there were no concerns from fire or police. 

Howe asked Ms. Nixon how long she had been in business; she responded five (5) to six (6) years. 

Hude discussed that she had visited the site around 5pm and observed the traffic related to pick-up of 
children. She noted that as indicated in the applicant’s narrative, Ms. Nixon was conscious of traffic and 
driveway usage and would proactive to address any complaints.   

Husby inquired if Ms. Nixon was currently licensed, to which she stated that she was and that her license 
would be changed after she submitted the approved SUP to LARA. 

There was a discussion regarding the staff report and the necessary requirements of the ordinance and 
building code. Staff will continue to work with the applicant to ensure any further requirements will be 
satisfied. 

PC Packet Page 6



Planning Commission Minutes           March 9, 2021 
Page 3 of 3 

MOTION by Waxman, second by Barna to approve Resolution 2021-02 allowing a Special Use Permit to 
Amber Nixon. 

Yes (8) Barna, Clark, Howe, Husby, Perrault, Sabbadin, Waxman, Wren 

No (0) 

Absent (1) Shattuck 

MOTION PASSED BY ROLL CALL VOTE 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

There was a brief discussion regarding the approval of the Joint City Council & Planning Commission 
Meeting Minutes from February 11, 2021. Hude indicated that the minutes were already approved by 
City Council, but she wanted to bring forth the topic in case there were any questions or concerns 
regarding the minutes. No concerns or comments made. 

Discussion and reminder made for the Joint City Council and Planning Commission Meeting on Monday 
March 15, 2021 at 8pm or immediately following the City Council meeting for the purpose of discussing 
the Master Plan Request for Proposals (RFP) 

NEW BUSINESS 
Staff reminded everyone of the upcoming Michigan Association of Planning Training. 

LIAISON REPORT 

Clark reported that City Council passed Ordinance 233 – Code of Ethics.   Other items being discussed 

with City Council included the demolition of Laylin Park Pavilion, Snow Removal, and Face to Face 

meetings which may resume in April. 

ADJOURN 
The meeting adjourned at approximately 7:34 p.m. 

PC Packet Page 7



Planning Commission Minutes          March 15, 2021 

Page 1 of 3 

CITY OF MASON 
JOINT CITY COUNCIL & PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

MINUTES OF MARCH 15, 2021 
DRAFT 

Sabbadin called the meeting to order at 8:43 p.m. at 201 West Ash Street, Mason MI, via Zoom 
Teleconference. 

Roll Call Present Absent Location 

Commissioner Barna X Mason, Michigan 

Council Liaison Clark X Mason, Michigan 

Vice Chair Howe X Mason, Michigan 

Commissioner Husby X Mason, Michigan 

Commissioner Perrault X Mason, Michigan 

Chair Sabbadin X Mason, Michigan 

Commissioner Shattuck X 

Secretary Wren X Mason, Michigan 

Council Member Waxman X Mason, Michigan 

Mayor Pro-Tem Brown X Mason, Michigan 

Council Member Droscha X Mason, Michigan 

Council Member Schaffer X Mason, Michigan 

Council Member Ferris X Mason, Michigan 

Council Member Vogel X Mason, Michigan 

Mayor Whipple X Mason, Michigan 

Also present:     Elizabeth A. Hude, AICP, Community Development Director, Mason, Michigan; Stephanie 
Strickland, Administrative Assistant, Mason; John Lynch, President Three Rivers Corporation; Dana 
Martin; Deb Stuart, City Manager; Michele Pietsch; Danielle Bouchard; Marvin Leroy; Michael Olson, 
Asst City Mgr/DPW Director; Tommy De la Fuente, PC Youth Advisor  

PUBLIC COMMENT 

None. 

PRESENTATION– MASTER PLAN REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP) 

City Manager Stuart presented an overview of the upcoming need and process for updating the City’s 

20-year Master Plan. She stated that the goal was to have a usable plan that was referred to on a regular 

basis.  John Lynch, President, Three Rivers Corporation conducted an exercise where each member 

provided three (3) items; what they would like to Keep, Remove and add to their city.  The information 

was summarized by staff that will format it further for use in the RFP: 

PC Packet Page 8



Planning Commission Minutes          March 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 3 

Preserve 

 Neighborhood/ Small town charm (Schaffer/ Howe/ Wren/ Clark)

o Courthouse Square/ Character (Brown/ Perrault/ Whipple)

o Beautifying downtown, burying infrastructure (Wren)

o Historic Preservation Priority/ Staffing (Vogel)

o Development Measured (Clark)

o Maintain the Fair (Husby)

o More community involvement/ more activities downtown (Wren)

o Maintain Community involvement (Whipple)

o Community Festivals (Droscha)

Innovation: 

 Infrastructure:

o 5 G Downtown (Howe)

o Fiber throughout town (Droscha/ Waxman)

o Solar Panel Roof Pilot/ Free Wi-Fi (Vogel)

o New DPW (Howe)

 Be more business-friendly ordinances (Clark)

 Improve development process in ordinances/ to make things that are simple easier (Whipple)

Get rid of we have always done it this way (Vogel)

 Entrepreneurial Growth Businesses helping business (Ferris)

Space: 

 More streets connecting North side of Town (Sabbadin)

 Get rid of 5 stop at Jefferson/Columbia (Droscha)

 More greenspace/ Parks on west side of highway (Schaffer)

 Redevelop Cedar Street/ Vacancies (Waxman/ Perrault)

 Develop Behind City Limits Developed (Sabbadin)

 Develop East of Fairgrounds (Howe)

 Specific:

o Community Center (Perrault)

o Non-profits combining services (Ferris)

o Destination Restaurant (Brown)

o Hotel (Husby/ Schaffer/ Delafuente)

Census: 

 Focus on younger age group (Vogel)

 More opportunities for youth (Delafuente)

 Communications with rural residents (Ferris)

PC Packet Page 9



Planning Commission Minutes          March 15, 2021 

Page 3 of 3 

Staff suggested that a representative from each of the Council and Commission be on the RFP selection 

committee and to consider appointing someone at their next meeting. 

Director Hude concluded by thanking all of the members and John Lynch for their time. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 9:51 pm. 

PC Packet Page 10



 
TO:  Planning Commission 
FROM:  Elizabeth A. Hude, AICP, Community Development Director 
SUBJECT: Resolution 2021-03: 1041 & 1123 S. Jefferson – Re-zoning  
DATE:  March 30, 2021 
George Hayhoe, Capex Land Inc., is requesting an amendment to the zoning map by rezoning 1041 S. 
Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-011) and 1123 S. Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-015) from 
M-1: Light Manufacturing District to C-2: General Commercial District.   
 
This is shown on the documents received March 4, 2021, is which includes: 

- Application including narrative and exhibits 
- Topographic plan – Capex Land Incorporated, City of Mason, Ingham County, Michigan, 

sheet 1 of 1, dated March 19, 2021, prepared by Wolverine Engineers & Surveyors, Inc. 
 
Chapter 94 Article XII. Amendments of the Mason Code Section 94-392 states that an amendment to 
this chapter (94 – Zoning) may be initiated by the city council, by the planning commission, or by 
petition of one or more persons having an interest in property located within the jurisdiction of this 
chapter.  
 
The applicant paid a fee of $300 (Zoning Amendment), and, together with the documents listed above, 
appears to satisfy the submittal requirements of Sec. 94-393 and Sec. 94-394. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
Notice of the public hearing was given in accordance with Sec. 94-395 and Sec. 94-101 of the City’s 
Zoning Ordinance. The public hearing notice was published in the Ingham County Community News 
Legal Section on Sunday, March 28, 2021, and a letter was sent to abutters within 300’ of the subject 
parcel via U.S. Mail on March 23, 2021. 
 
AGENCY NOTICE 
Agencies were notified of the application the day the application was complete, March 19, 2021, in 
accordance with Sec. 94-394(d). 
 

  
  City of Mason 
  Planning Commission 
   Staff Report 

PC Packet Page 11

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mason/latest/mason_mi/0-0-0-22883
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mason/latest/mason_mi/0-0-0-22883
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mason/latest/mason_mi/0-0-0-22888
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mason/latest/mason_mi/0-0-0-22910
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mason/latest/mason_mi/0-0-0-21330
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mason/latest/mason_mi/0-0-0-22893


STAFF REVIEW 
The site is located and fronts on South Jefferson Street, a local public roadway.  The surrounding land 
uses and zoning are as follows: 
 

 Current Land Use Zoning Future Land Use 

North Residential M-1 Light Manufacturing District Mixed Use 

East Manufacturing M-1 Light Manufacturing District Mixed Use 

South Commercial C-2 General Commercial District Mixed Use 

West Residential RS-1 Single Family Residential District Residential/Public 
 
 
REVIEW CRITERIA 
Staff offers the following information as a supplement to the responses in the applicant’s narrative. 
 
Sec. 94-396.  Planning commission recommendations. 
(a)   In reviewing any application for an amendment to this chapter, the planning commission shall 
identify and evaluate all factors relevant to the application, and shall report its finding in full along with 
its recommendations for disposition of the application, to the city council within 60 days of receipt of an 
application or proposed amendment. The matters to be considered by the planning commission shall 
include the following findings of fact: 
 
(1)   Compliance with the master plan of the city. 
The Master Plan encourages that zoning be re-evaluated and has designated this area as Mixed Use in 
the Future Land Use Plan (FLUP). Re-zoning to commercial would be consistent with the FLUP. 
The Masterplan offers support for the re-zoning in several sections: 

• Future Land Use Map, page 3-9 designates this area as potential Mixed Use, Mixed-Use is 
discussed further on page 3-6 

• This area appears to be discussed in Chapter 2 Industrial Development, pages 2-6 and on pages 
3-4 as part of the South Railroad Industrial Area. 

• Chapter 2 Growth Management, Public Services, and Quality of Life 
• Chapter 2 Economic Development, page 2-3, discusses the need to re-evaluate zoning  
• Chapter 2 Commercial Development, page 2-6 
• Chapter 2 Transportation, Streets, and Circulation, page 2-7 

 
(2)   What, if any, identifiable conditions related to the proposed amendment have changed which 
justify the proposed amendment?   
There has been significant investment of commercial, office and residential development in the Kipp Rd 
area between US 127 and the railroad tracks. Market conditions appear to be favorable for the use of 
this area as commercial. 
 
(3)   What, if any, error in judgment, procedure or administration was made in the original chapter 
which justifies the petitioner's change in zoning? Staff is not aware of any error that was made in the 
current zoning classification.  
 
(4)   What are the precedents and the possible effects of such precedent which might result from the 
approval or denial of the petition?  

PC Packet Page 12

https://www.mason.mi.us/document_center/Departments/Community%20Development/2%20Current%20Plans/032514%20MASTER%20PLAN%202014.pdf


Re-zoning this property extends the commercial use further north on S. Jefferson on land currently 
zoned M-1 Light Manufacturing. Similar to the discussion is item (2) above, land use practices in this 
area have shifted to more commercial and office uses. 
 
(5)   What is the impact of the amendment on the ability of the city and other governmental agencies 
to provide adequate public services and facilities, and/or programs that might reasonably be required 
in the future if the petition is approved?  There does not appear to be any unique impact. This area is 
already developed and served adequately by public services and facilities. The north lot, 1041 S. 
Jefferson St. is currently designated as a detention basin for properties to the south fronting on Kipp Rd 
– the credit union and Dollar Tree plaza. The detention basin will also support any future development 
on 1123 S Jefferson. Staff is not aware of any additional requirements at this time. 
 
(6)   Does the proposed amendment adversely affect the value of the surrounding property? Staff does 
not find that converting this property from M-1 Light Manufacturing to C-2 Commercial District would 
adversely impact the value of surrounding property. The re-zoning has the potential to improve values in 
the area and improve walkability by providing commercial activities within walking distance of 
residential neighborhoods and locating adjacent to other commercial uses served by existing non-
motorized linkages such as the sidewalks and Hayhoe Riverwalk Trail. 
 
(7)   Are there any significant negative environmental impacts which would reasonably occur if the 
petitioned zoning change and resulting allowed structures were built? Examples include: 
      a.   Surface water drainage problems. 
      b.   Wastewater disposal problems. 
      c.   Adverse effect on surface or subsurface water quality. 
      d.   The loss of valuable natural resources, such as forest, wetlands, historic sites, wildlife, mineral 
deposits or valuable agricultural land. 
The area is already developed and served by City utilities and appropriate stormwater detention 
facilities. Staff is not aware of any additional significant environmental impacts that would result from 
the proposed zoning change. 
 
(8)   The ability of the property in question to be put to a reasonable economic use in the zoning 
district in which it is presently located. The re-zoning improves the ability of the property to be put to a 
reasonable economic use based upon current market conditions. 
 
ACTION 
The Planning Commission has the following options: 

• Motion/vote to recommend City Council adopt Ordinance 234, 
• Motion/vote to recommend City Council deny the request as presented,  
• Continue to a future meeting date and time in order to obtain additional information (be 

specific). 
 
Relation to Other Actions  
A first reading of Ordinance No. 234 will be conducted at a regular meeting of City Council on Monday, 
April 5, 2021. Pending the recommendation of the Planning Commission, City Council would conduct the 
second reading and consider adoption at their regular meeting, on Monday, April 19, 2021. The 
ordinance would go into effect on the date of its publication, anticipated to be Sunday, April 25, 2021. 
 
 

PC Packet Page 13



Staff Recommendation 
With the findings and analysis described above, the following action is recommended for consideration 
by the Planning Commission:   
 
The Planning Commission approve Resolution No. 2021-03 recommending that City Council adopt 
Ordinance No. 234. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Resolution 2021-03 
2. Ordinance No. 234 
3. Map of parcel/Zoning Map 
4. Application materials 

PC Packet Page 14



 

1041 & 1123 S. Jefferson Street 

PC Packet Page 15



 
CITY OF MASON 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION No. 2021-03 
 

A RESOLUTION RECOMMEDING THAT THE CITY COUNCIL 
ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 234 – AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP BY REZONING 1041 S. 

JEFFERSON ST. (PARCEL 33-19-10-09-351-011) AND 1123 S. JEFFERSON ST. (PARCEL 33-19-10-09-351-
015) FROM M-1: LIGHT MANUFACTURING DISTRICT TO C-2: GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT.    

 
April 13, 2021 

 
WHEREAS, George Hayhoe, Capex Land Inc., to amend the zoning map by rezoning 1041 S. 
Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-011) and 1123 S. Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-
015) from M-1: Light Manufacturing District to C-2: General Commercial District.   

 
WHEREAS, a public hearing on the request was noticed and held at the Planning Commission’s 
regular meeting of April 13, 2021, with testimony given and public comment solicited in 
accordance with Section 94-101 of the Mason Code; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission accepts the Staff Report dated March 30, 2021, as findings 
of fact that the proposed Ordinance No. 234 is consistent with the relevant criteria of Section 
94-396(a) which includes: 
 
(1)   Compliance with the master plan of the city. 
The Master Plan encourages that zoning be re-evaluated and has designated this area as Mixed Use in the 
Future Land Use Plan (FLUP). Re-zoning to commercial would be consistent with the FLUP. 
The Masterplan offers support for the re-zoning in several sections: 

• Future Land Use Map, page 3-9 designates this area as potential Mixed Use, Mixed-Use is discussed 
further on page 3-6 

• This area appears to be discussed in Chapter 2 Industrial Development, pages 2-6 and on pages 3-4 
as part of the South Railroad Industrial Area. 

• Chapter 2 Growth Management, Public Services, and Quality of Life 
• Chapter 2 Economic Development, page 2-3, discusses the need to re-evaluate zoning  
• Chapter 2 Commercial Development, page 2-6 
• Chapter 2 Transportation, Streets, and Circulation, page 2-7 

 
(2)   What, if any, identifiable conditions related to the proposed amendment have changed which justify 
the proposed amendment?   
There has been significant investment of commercial, office and residential development in the Kipp Rd area 
between US 127 and the railroad tracks. Market conditions appear to be favorable for the use of this area as 
commercial. 
 
(3)   What, if any, error in judgment, procedure or administration was made in the original chapter which 
justifies the petitioner's change in zoning? Staff is not aware of any error that was made in the current 
zoning classification.  
 
(4)   What are the precedents and the possible effects of such precedent which might result from the 
approval or denial of the petition?  

PC Packet Page 16

https://www.mason.mi.us/document_center/Departments/Community%20Development/2%20Current%20Plans/032514%20MASTER%20PLAN%202014.pdf


Re-zoning this property extends the commercial use further north on S. Jefferson on land currently zoned M-
1 Light Manufacturing. Similar to the discussion is item (2) above, land use practices in this area have shifted 
to more commercial and office uses. 
 
(5)   What is the impact of the amendment on the ability of the city and other governmental agencies to 
provide adequate public services and facilities, and/or programs that might reasonably be required in the 
future if the petition is approved?  There does not appear to be any unique impact. This area is already 
developed and served adequately by public services and facilities. The north lot, 1041 S. Jefferson St. is 
currently designated as a detention basin for properties to the south fronting on Kipp Rd – the credit union 
and Dollar Tree plaza. The detention basin will also support any future development on 1123 S Jefferson. 
Staff is not aware of any additional requirements at this time. 
 
(6)   Does the proposed amendment adversely affect the value of the surrounding property? Staff does not 
find that converting this property from M-1 Light Manufacturing to C-2 Commercial District would adversely 
impact the value of surrounding property. The re-zoning has the potential to improve values in the area and 
improve walkability by providing commercial activities within walking distance of residential neighborhoods 
and locating adjacent to other commercial uses served by existing non-motorized linkages such as the 
sidewalks and Hayhoe Riverwalk Trail. 
 
(7)   Are there any significant negative environmental impacts which would reasonably occur if the 
petitioned zoning change and resulting allowed structures were built? Examples include: 
      a.   Surface water drainage problems. 
      b.   Wastewater disposal problems. 
      c.   Adverse effect on surface or subsurface water quality. 
      d.   The loss of valuable natural resources, such as forest, wetlands, historic sites, wildlife, mineral 
deposits or valuable agricultural land. 
The area is already developed and served by City utilities and appropriate stormwater detention facilities. 
Staff is not aware of any additional significant environmental impacts that would result from the proposed 
zoning change. 
 
(8)   The ability of the property in question to be put to a reasonable economic use in the zoning district in 
which it is presently located. The re-zoning improves the ability of the property to be put to a reasonable 
economic use based upon current market conditions. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Mason Planning Commission does hereby 
recommend that the City Council adopt Ordinance No. 234 – an ordinance to amend the City of 
Mason zoning map to rezone property at 1041 Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-011) and 
1123 Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-015) from M-1: Light Manufacturing District to C-2: 
General Commercial District. 
 
Yes (0) 
No (0) 
Absent (0) 
 
_____________________________ 
Sarah J. Jarvis, City Clerk 
City of Mason 
Ingham County, Michigan 

PC Packet Page 17



Introduced: 
First Reading: April 5, 2021 
Second Reading: 
Adopted: _____________ 
Effective: _____________ 

CITY OF MASON 
ORDINANCE 234  

!b hw5Lb!b/9 ¢h !a9b5 ¢I9 ½hbLbD a!t .¸ w9½hbLbD млпм {Φ W9CC9w{hb {¢Φ όt!w/9[ ооπмфπмлπ
лфπормπлммύ !b5 ммно {Φ W9CC9w{hb {¢Φ όt!w/9[ ооπмфπмлπлфπормπлмрύ Cwha aπмΥ [LDI¢

a!b¦C!/¢¦wLbD 5L{¢wL/¢ ¢h /πнΥ D9b9w![ /haa9w/L![ 5L{¢wL/¢Φ 

THE CITY OF MASON ORDAINS: 

The Mason Zoning Map is hereby amended as follows: 

Parcels 1041 S. Jefferson St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-011) and 1123 S. Jefferson 
St. (parcel 33-19-10-09-351-015) are to be rezoned from M-1: Light Manufacturing 
District to C-2: General Commercial District.

Sunset Provision.  None. 

Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon publication of the notice of 
adoption in a newspaper of general circulation within the city. 

The foregoing Ordinance was moved for adoption by Council Member ______________ 
and supported by Council Member ____________, with a vote thereon being:  YES (    )  NO 
(    ), at a regular meeting of the City Council held pursuant to public notice in compliance 
with the Michigan Open Meetings Act, on the _____ day of ___________, 2021.  
Ordinance No. 234 declared adopted this _____ day of __________, 2021 

Russell Whipple, Mayor 

________________________________________ 
Sarah J. Jarvis, City Clerk 

____________________________ 
Thomas M. Hitch (P25558) 
Mason City Attorney 
601 Abbot Road, PO Box 2502 
East Lansing, MI 48826-2502 

PC Packet Page 18



PC Packet Page 19



PC Packet Page 20



PC Packet Page 21



PC Packet Page 22



PC Packet Page 23



PC Packet Page 24



PC Packet Page 25



PC Packet Page 26



PC Packet Page 27



PC Packet Page 28



! ! !  CAUTION  ! ! !

E
ng

in
ee

rs
 &

 S
ur

ve
yo

rs
, I

nc
.

M
as

on
, M

ic
hi

ga
n 

48
85

4
31

2 
N

or
th

 S
tr

ee
t

Ph
: 5

17
-6

76
-9

20
0

Fx
: 5

17
-6

76
-9

39
6

ht
tp

://
w

w
w

.w
ol

ve
ng

.c
om

W
O
L
V
E
R
IN
E

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

EXISTING LEGENDEXISTING LEGEND

S. LANSING STREET

S.
  J

EF
FE

RS
O

N
   

 S
TR

EE
T

KIPP     ROAD

NOTE

PC Packet Page 29

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST 1/4 CORNER, SECTION 9, T2N, R2W

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWEST CORNER, SECTION 9, T2N, R1W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-09-351-016 CP FEDERAL CREDIT UNION ZONE C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-09-351-008 HAMEL HOLDINGS LLC ZONE C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS AND PUBLIC  AND PRIVATE UTILITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT AGREEMENT RECORDED IN LIBER 3262, PAGE 603.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-09-351-017CP PACIFICA MASON LLC ZONE C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-16-100-024 GESTAMP MASON LLC ZONE M-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-17-200-027 GOOD WILL CO INC (MEIJER) ZONE C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-042 J&J PROPERTIES OF MASON LLC ZONE C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-049 MSU FEDERAL CREDIT UNION ZONE C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-048 J&J PROPERTIES OF MASON LLC ZONE RS-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-009 BONNIE CULVER ZONE RS-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-033 DARREL HEIN ZONE RS-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-032 TINA & JAMES WOLFE ZONE RS-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-047 J&J PROPERTIES OF MASON LLC ZONE OFFICE DIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-08-476-041 J&J PROPERTIES OF MASON LLC ZONE C-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-09-351-013 J&J PROPERTIES OF MASON LLC ZONE M-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-09-351-014 MASON COMMERCE CENTER LLC ZONE M-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHARED DETENTION/RETENTION POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONSUMERS ENERGY 33-19-10-09-351-010

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAILROAD  RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAYHOE  RIVERWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-09-351-011

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL #33-19-10-09-351-015

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOINT ACCESS EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY APPROXIMATE. NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO NOTIFY THE VARIOUS UTILITY OWNERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH MICHIGAN P.A. NO. 53 OF 1974.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S:\Projects\2021\21-0034  Capex Land Company\_C3D\DWGs\Mstr_Surv_15-0416.dwg, Friday, March 19, 2021 9:56:13 AM, Lori Raymond, Friday, March 19, 2021 9:56:13 AM, Lori RaymondFriday, March 19, 2021 9:56:13 AM, Lori Raymond, Lori RaymondLori Raymond

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT  C  2013 WOLVERINE ENGINEERS AND SURVEYORS, INC.  ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIALS APPEARING HEREIN CONSTITUTE THE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED WORK OF WOLVERINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEERS AND SURVEYORS, INC. AND THE SAME MAY NOT BE DUPLICATED, DISTRIBUTED OR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DISCLOSED WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF WOLVERINE ENGINEERS AND SURVEYORS, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DBH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DBH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET TITLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
21-0034

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF MASON

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAPEX LAND INCORPORATED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LDR

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 OF 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/19/2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOPOGRAPHIC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
901

AutoCAD SHX Text
900

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTOUR - MNR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTOUR - MJR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM CATCH BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM END SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARBWIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUY WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRICAL RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRICAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND PROPERTY IRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECIDUOUS TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHRUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORNAMENTAL TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.I.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
901

AutoCAD SHX Text
900

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTOUR - MNR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTOUR - MJR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHEAD UTILITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM CATCH BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM END SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARBWIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUY WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRICAL RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRICAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND PROPERTY IRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECIDUOUS TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHRUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORNAMENTAL TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.I.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET PROPERTY IRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.I.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONITORING WELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIGHBORING PARCEL INFORMATION WAS OBTAINED FROM INGHAM COUNTY EQUALIZATION ON MARCH 17, 2021.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' WIDE NON-ESCLUSIVE SURFACE EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY AS RECORDED IN DOCUMENT #2016-041633



PC Packet Page 30



PC Packet Page 31



PC Packet Page 32


	00 20210413 PC Agenda ss
	00a PC Meeting Instructions - Zoom ss
	00b 2020Oct20_Adopted Electronic Mtg Info Rules Guidance, FINAL
	ADDITIONAL Zoom Instructions for Participants:
	PHONE INSTRUCTIONS - to join the conference by phone
	VIDEOCONFERENCE INSTRUCTIONS – to watch and speak, but not to be seen
	Before a videoconference:
	To join the videoconference:
	Participant controls in the lower left corner of the Zoom screen:

	04A 20210309 PC Minutes PKT
	04B 20210315 CC&PC MINUTES PKT
	05A 1041 & 1123 S. Jefferson Application PC PACKET
	01a  Jefferson St - Hayhoe Property M1-C2_staff report-resolution draft ss eh
	Ordinance No. 234 Jefferson St - Hayhoe Property M1 to C2 ss eh
	02a 1041 & 1123 S. Jefferson Application eh updated parcel drawing 3-19-21
	02a 1041 & 1123 S. Jefferson Application eh updated parcel drawing 3-19-21.pdf
	02b Jefferson St -Hayhoe Property_ drawing revised 3-19-21_Mstr_Surv_15-0416-Ttlb 24x36
	02a 1041 & 1123 S. Jefferson Application eh updated parcel drawing 3-19-21





